MIRZA M. BULUR, in his official capacity as the Acting Public Safety Director for the City of Paterson and Appropriate Authority, City of Paterson Police Department, and ENGELBERT RIBEIRO, in his official capacity as the Police Chief of the City of Paterson Police Department, Plaintiffs-Appellants, v. THE NEW JERSEY OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL, MATTHEW J. PLATKIN in his official capacity as Attorney General of the State of New Jerson, JOHN	SUPREME COURT OF NEW JERSEY Docket No. 090126 <u>CIVIL ACTION</u> On Petition for Certification of the Final Judgment of the Superior Court of New Jersey, Appellate Division.

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

For over fifty years, New Jersey law has established the Attorney General as the State's Chief Law Enforcement Officer. The Criminal Justice Act of 1970 (CJA) emphasizes the importance of the "uniform and efficient enforcement of the criminal law and the administration of criminal justice throughout the State," and it "provide[s] for the general supervision of criminal justice by the Attorney General as chief law enforcement officer of the State." The law imposes on law enforcement agencies the duty "to cooperate with and aid" the Attorney General. And it guarantees to the Attorney General "broad authority over criminal justice matters." That includes the power "to adopt guidelines, directives, and policies that bind law enforcement." But it also includes the power to take over any case, function, or law enforcement agency that has fallen far short of the standards to which law enforcement must adhere. That authority, known as "supersession," allows Attorneys General or county prosecutors to temporarily stand in the shoes of, as relevant, a local police chief and take the necessary steps to improve public safety and rebuild public trust. Attorneys General and county prosecutors have used their supersession authority at least 26 times in the past 25 years, including to transform Camden's police into a national model.

Paterson presented precisely the sort of extraordinary case for which this failsafe power was designed. After years of misconduct and mismanagement at

the Paterson Police Department (PPD) led to a crisis point, the Attorney General recognized that a "loss of faith in the leadership of the Department, longstanding fiscal challenges, and mounting public safety concerns" required him to act. As a result, on March 27, 2023, the Attorney General informed the Paterson Mayor that he was superseding the PPD. He brought in a decorated NYPD veteran to serve as Officer-in-Charge (OIC), and the new team immediately began working with PPD members and with the Paterson community to implement a new vision, structure, and culture at the PPD. Plaintiffs accepted the supersession for over six months. But in October 2023, they sued—even though state investments and efforts at reform were well underway. And on December 18, 2024, the Appellate Division issued a published decision holding the Attorney General categorically lacks authority to supersede municipal police departments, and demanding the removal of the Attorney General's leadership team within weeks-even though those same state investments and efforts at reform are still underway today.

This Court should grant certification, grant a stay pending final judgment, and ultimately reverse. Initially, the panel decision errs on an issue of profound public importance, and the Attorney General will likely prevail. New Jersey law expressly makes the Attorney General responsible for supervising state, county, and local law enforcement—and to the State's knowledge, the panel decision is the first to strip the Attorney General of a necessary tool to achieve those goals.

Not only is the decision thus inconsistent with this broad supervisory authority, but it is contrary to state statutes buttressing the Attorney General's supersession authority; the Internal Affairs Policies and Procedures; and the longstanding and unrebutted history of supersessions in our State. And most strikingly, the panel decision invalidating the PPD supersession is irreconcilable with recent specific state laws bolstering this particular supersession, including statutes granting the State's leadership team appropriations for their work at the PPD.

Much as the merits favor certification and a continued stay, the interests of justice and equities do as well. Supersession is a crucial tool in the rare cases in which the circumstances warrant it, and state- and county-led efforts to reform troubled law enforcement agencies would be hamstrung without it. The record in Camden and in Paterson prove as much: both arose out of extraordinary local challenges, and both prove meaningful reform is possible with concerted effort from a range of stakeholders, including the State. But because the State's efforts in Paterson remain underway, ending their efforts now-only to have control of the Department potentially whipsaw back if the State ultimately prevails at the end of this appeal—would disserve the equities and good governance. Instead, this Court should grant certification and preserve the status quo as it has existed since March 2023, staying the panel's mistaken ruling and ultimately reversing the decision when it considers these questions in full on the merits.

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY¹

The Attorney General incorporates by reference the fact statement in his brief to the Appellate Division, and emphasizes certain facts that bear especially on the merits, interests of justice, and equitable factors:

A. This Supersession.

Unfortunate episodes of both misconduct and mismanagement culminated in the Attorney General's decision to supersede the PPD on March 27, 2023. Between 2016 and 2018, for instance, a so-called "robbery squad" of rogue PPD police officers routinely stopped, searched, and stole money from residents, with members eventually going to federal prison. (Ra64-68). Another officer, who had dealt drugs while on the force, was sentenced to federal prison in 2019 after being videotaped assaulting a hospital patient who had just attempted suicide. (Ra72). And Paterson faced a series of lawsuits for the conduct of certain badapple law enforcement officers, paying out over \$1 million in settlements in one sixteen-month period. (Pca110-112).

Against that backdrop, then-Attorney General Grewal directed the Passaic County Prosecutor's Office (PCPO) to supersede the PPD's internal affairs (IA) function in April 2021. (Ra63). Although that intervention led to a report that identified deficiencies and recommended changes, more remained necessary to

¹ For the convenience of the Court, these related sections are combined.

turn things around. In early 2022, a man went missing after officers left him in a park at night in near-freezing temperatures. (Pca119-122). At different times that year, two men were shot and killed while fleeing the police, which sparked protests. (Ra73); (Pca123-124; Pca125-130). And March 2023 began not only with a man opening fire on two State Troopers who were investigating a breakin (hitting and injuring one), (Ra74), but with the fatal shooting by PPD officers of a resident in the throes of a mental-health crisis, bringing community outrage and public calls for federal intervention to a fever pitch, (Ra75-80). Engelbert Ribeiro was part of PPD's leadership during this period, and on the same day of that fatal shooting, he was sworn in as PPD's full-time Chief. (Pa6; Pa26).²

On March 27, noting a "loss of faith in the leadership of the Department, longstanding fiscal challenges, and mounting public safety concerns," Attorney General Platkin informed the Paterson Mayor that he was superseding the PPD. (Pca4-5; Pa227). In a letter to PPD officers that same day, the Attorney General observed that the Department had for too long "been subjected to the whims of a revolving door of leadership," along with "high-profile cases of misconduct" that "sullied the good name of the hundreds of officers trying to do good work,"

² Ribeiro would the PPD's third chief in the prior three years. In February 2020, Troy Oswald had resigned and been replaced by Ibrahim Baycora (Pca113-114), but crime spiked, and the Mayor fired Baycora (who had by then sued him and the City) in September 2022 (Pca115-118). Ribeiro, already serving as Deputy Chief, became Acting Chief that same month. <u>Ibid.</u>

and causing "the trust between the community and the Department" to unravel. (Pa21). The Attorney General announced the State was "bringing in nationally recognized leadership to work with members of this department to raise up the good work being done, and address areas in need of reform and repair," (<u>ibid.</u>)—including Isa Abbassi, a decorated NYPD veteran with experience overseeing similar reforms to repair community trust, (Ra82).

OIC Abbassi and his team swiftly got to work. They began by framing a new strategic vision for departmental reform, focusing on rebuilding public trust through increased transparency, oversight, and community feedback, (Ra88-91); undertaking a top-to-bottom assessment of the PPD to retire outdated methods and implement new ones, (Ra93); and ensuring a robust and fair recruitment and hiring process, (Ra94-95). The new chain-of-command followed that strategic vision with a full-scale strategic plan, (Ra105-32), which they paired with a list of 55 concrete initiatives and a tracker that would allow the public to follow the Department's execution of those initiatives, (Ra121-25). Progress has continued apace, with 40 now completed and fifteen in progress. (Pca132-146).

The initiatives have paid tangible dividends not only in increasing policecommunity trust, but also in making Paterson safer for its residents. To take one example, this leadership team adopted and implemented a "Summer Crime and Quality of Life" initiative that deployed PPD personnel, newly empowered with

de-escalation techniques, to "hotspots that have historically seen increases of violence in the summer months," bolstered by nearly \$1 million in funding from OAG. (Ra99). That initiative and similar strategies achieved marked declines in crime, including—as of the briefing below—a 39.3% decrease in murders, 33.3% decrease in shootings, and 22.6% decrease in robberies between calendar years 2022 and 2023. (Ra100). Not only that, but thanks to new transparency initiates, the public can track weekly updates to this data for the first time via a new "CompStat" page. See PPD, CompStat Data, https://tinyurl.com/4ppauy8u (Pca154) (as of this filing, showing 59.3% decrease in murders, 28.8% decrease in sexual assaults, and 9.3% decrease in robberies over the past two years).

None of this escaped the notice of the Legislature. Rather, having heard testimony about the PPD's supersession, (Rb23 & n.5), the Legislature took two steps to assist and bolster the Attorney General's efforts. First, the Legislature enacted <u>L</u>. 2023, <u>c</u>. 94 (Chapter 94), which the Governor signed into law on July 3, 2023. Chapter 94 provides that "upon superseding a law enforcement agency in a city of the first class having a population of less than 200,000," the Attorney General "may appoint a person who has not previously satisfied the applicable law enforcement officer training requirements ... to serve as officer in charge of that law enforcement agency during" the supersession, <u>id.</u> § 1(a). That provision allowed OIC Abbassi to swiftly begin his work without fulfilling a series of state

requirements to which officers are subject. Chapter 94 is retroactive to the start of the month the Paterson supersession began. <u>Id.</u> § 2. Second, the Legislature appropriated funds to OAG for the "Paterson Police Department — State Costs," estimated at \$10 million, first for FY 2023-2024, and again for 2024-2025.³

B. This Litigation.

On October 6, 2023, over six months after the supersession order issued and three months after the Legislature passed Chapter 94, Plaintiffs Mirza Bulur (identifying himself as Acting Public Safety Director) and Chief Ribeiro sued in the Law Division. (Pa1). The Law Division granted Mayor Sayegh's unopposed motion to intervene, (Ra101-02), and granted the Attorney General's motion to transfer venue to the Appellate Division in light of its exclusive jurisdiction to entertain challenges to final state agency orders, (Pa229). Plaintiffs then sought permission to file an emergent motion, which the Appellate Division denied, but Plaintiffs did not otherwise move for a stay pending appeal. (Ra104).

On December 18, 2024, the Appellate Division issued a published opinion holding that Attorneys General categorically lack the power to supersede local law enforcement agencies without that agency's consent. (Pca3-4). The panel

³ N.J. Dep't of Treasury, Appropriations Handbook: Fiscal Year 2023-2024, at B-165-66, https://tinyurl.com/bdz8v955 (Pca147-50); N.J. Dep't of Treasury, Appropriations Handbook: Fiscal Year 2024-2025, at B-170, https://tinyurl.com/2zxkjt64 (Pca151-53).

began by rejecting the State's timeliness arguments, concluding that while some of Plaintiffs' challenges were barred by a 45-day filing deadline, their challenge to the supersession was not. (Pca15-19). The panel then held that the state laws ensuring the Attorney General "general supervisory' authority over county and municipal law enforcement" did not grant him the power to supersede when the agencies fell short, (Pca33), and determined that none of N.J.S.A. 52:17B-106 and -107 (Sections 106 and 107) of the CJA, (Pca22-23); N.J.S.A. 40A:14-181 (Section 181), (Pca23-25); and/or Law Enforcement Directive 2022-14, (Pca25-27), gave him that supersession power either. Although the panel acknowledged the history of county prosecutors likewise exercising supersession authority over local law enforcement agencies, the panel refused to credit that history because it believed the county prosecutors might have "statutory" supersession authority the Attorney General lacked. (Pca36). And although the panel admitted that the Legislature adopted Chapter 94 after the Attorney General superseded the PPD, (Pca27-32), the panel concluded that Chapter 94 merely served "to ensure that OIC Abbassi's time running the PPD was not consumed by New Jersey police training requirements," not to grant supersession authority itself, (Pca31).

By way of remedies, the panel ordered the State to "relinquish control of the PPD to city officials ... including Director Bulur and Chief Ribeiro," and to "produce a narrative written report to plaintiffs summarizing all actions and

accounting for all expenditures undertaken by defendants on behalf of the police department from March 27, 2023 to the date of this opinion" within 21 days. (Pca38). The panel stayed its ruling for three business days to permit the State to seek emergent relief from this Court. (Pca39).

The State immediately entered its notice of petition and sought emergent relief, which a Justice granted on December 19. Pursuant to the schedule issued that same day, this consolidated certification and stay brief follows.

QUESTION PRESENTED

Whether the Attorney General can supersede a local law enforcement agency without that agency's consent. (Pca20-39).

ARGUMENT

The panel incorrectly decided a question of immense importance, holding the Attorney General lacks power to supersede local law enforcement agencies despite a wealth of evidence to the contrary. The interests of justice and equities likewise confirm the need for certification and a continued stay.

POINT I

THE RULING BELOW INCORRECTLY LIMITS THE STATE'S OVERSIGHT AUTHORITY.

A wealth of statutory authority establishes that the chief law enforcement officer—including the Attorney General and county prosecutors—can supersede local law enforcement agencies. Those sources include a range of state statutes dating back to the CJA of 1970, confirmed by extraordinary historical practice, and even include specific statutes the Legislature adopted since 2023 to facilitate and bolster the PPD supersession. The Appellate Division's contrary conclusion relies on a series of three errors that ultimately produced a cramped view of lawenforcement supervision that New Jersey law has long rejected.

A. The Attorney General Maintains The Authority To Supersede Law Enforcement Agencies When Necessary.

That an Attorney General can supersede a police department follows from both statutory text and established practice, including laws that our Legislature adopted since 2023 to facilitate and bolster the PPD supersession.

The Criminal Justice Act of 1970 is one of "several sources" from which the Attorney General's "broad authority over criminal justice matters" derives. <u>See In re Att'y Gen. L. Enf't Directive Nos. 2020-5 & 2020-6</u>, 246 N.J. 462, 482-83 (2021) (<u>In re 2020 Directives</u>). Diverging from the approaches taken in other States, our Legislature made the explicit choice "to provide for the general supervision of criminal justice by the Attorney General as chief law enforcement officer of the State," which it did "in order to secure the benefits of a uniform and efficient enforcement of the criminal law and the administration of criminal justice throughout the State." N.J.S.A. 52:17B-98. The CJA thus establishes our State's longstanding law enforcement chain-of-command: N.J.S.A. 52:17B-112 states that it "shall be the duty of the several county prosecutors to cooperate with and aid the Attorney General in the performance of his duties," and that all "the police officers of the several counties and municipalities of this State and all other law enforcement officers" shall likewise "cooperate with and aid the Attorney General and the several county prosecutors." In other words, while each local and county law enforcement agency operates independently, all are linked together by our law in a single statewide chain of command.

The Attorney General has a number of statutory tools in order to fulfill his responsibilities to ensure "general supervision of criminal justice" and maintain appropriate "enforcement of the criminal law and the administration of criminal justice throughout the State." N.J.S.A. 52:17B-98 (adding the CJA's provisions "shall be liberally construed to achieve these ends" and "declaration of policy"). See Town Tobacconist v. Kimmelman, 94 N.J. 85, 122 n.18 (1983) (consistent with the statute's text, noting the CJA "declares it to be the responsibility of the Attorney General to do whatever is necessary to" achieve these policies); cf. In re Kimber Petroleum Corp., 110 N.J. 69, 74 (1988) (holding state agencies enjoy not only the powers expressly granted by statutes, but those implicitly necessary to effectuate their assigned responsibilities). Although not mentioned explicitly in the CJA, courts have long recognized that the Attorney General's supervisory authority includes power "to adopt guidelines, directives, and policies that bind law enforcement." Paff v. Ocean Cty. Pros. Office, 235 N.J. 1, 20-21 (2018);

<u>see In re 2020 Directives</u>, 246 N.J. at 482-83; <u>Fraternal Order of Police, Newark</u> <u>Lodge 12 v. City of Newark</u>, 244 N.J. 75, 100 (2020) (<u>FOP</u>). And those statutes allowed for the adoption of a uniform Internal Affairs Policies and Procedures (IAPP), which the Legislature later confirmed law enforcement must follow. <u>See N.J.S.A. 40A:14-181; In re 2020 Directives</u>, 246 N.J. at 487.

The Attorney General's established supervisory authority over the State's law enforcement chain-of-command likewise includes the power to temporarily supersede a law enforcement agency, function, or case if necessary. That ability is inherent in the nature of a chain-of-command: were it otherwise, the Attorney General would have little recourse if one law enforcement agency's leadership, whether by mismanagement or misconduct, had failed to comply with statewide policies or satisfied the high standards expected of New Jersey law enforcement. And it is thus no surprise that a range of other state laws confirm this authority. Section 107 makes clear the Attorney General's oversight authority extends not only to the supersession of any county prosecutor "in any investigation, criminal action or proceeding," N.J.S.A. 52:17B-107(a)(1)(a), but also to oversight over "any investigation, criminal action or proceeding" throughout the State, N.J.S.A. 52:17B-107(a)(1)(b)-(c), confirming that supersession is not limited to oversight over county prosecutors and can even operate down to the level of an individual case. And the IAPP—which Section 181 requires all law enforcement agencies to follow—expressly confirms that the Attorney General can supersede local law enforcement agencies, reflecting that supersession remains an important tool to improve agencies facing significant internal challenges. <u>See IAPP § 1.0.5</u> (as amended by Law Enf. Dir. 2022-14); <u>see also supra</u> at 4-6 (recounting attempts to address problems at PPD by superseding IA, but later finding an agency-wide supersession remained necessary to address PPD's extraordinary challenges).

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