MIRZA M. BULUR, in his official capacity as the Acting Public Safety Director for the City of Paterson and Appropriate Authority, City of Paterson Police Department, and ENGELBERT RIBEIRO, in his official capacity as the Police Chief of the City of Paterson Police Department,

Plaintiffs-Appellants,

v.

THE NEW **JERSEY** OFFICE OF THE GENERAL, ATTORNEY **MATTHER** PLATKIN, in his official capacity as Attorney General of the State of New Jersey, JOHN DOES **MARY DOES** 1-10. and XYZ 1-10, **CORPORATIONS 1-10,**

Defendants-Respondents.

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

Defendants also contend that the panel's rejection of the Attorney General's purported ability to unilaterally grant himself essentially whatever power he wants without need for legislative authorization by way of the Internal Affairs Policies and Procedures Manual ("IAPP") contributes to their error. (Sc23). Defendants proffered interpretation is a genuinely disturbing proposition that is openly at variance with separation-of-powers doctrine, but

also one that is easily debunked. While this Court has consistently upheld the Attorney General's authority to adopt guidelines, directives, and policies that bind police departments; See e.g. North Jersey Media Group, Inc. v. Township of Lyndhurst, 229 N.J. 541, 565 (2017); it has also summarily decried any situation that "would allow the Attorney General to make the law rather than enforce it." Town Tobacconist v. Kimmelman, 94 N.J. 85, 122 n. 18 (1983). Defendants' interest in granting unfettered legislative power to the Attorney General was rightly rejected by the panel.

Defendants finally contend that the panel misapprehended Sections 106 and 107 of the Criminal Justice Act ("CJA"). (Sc24). In advancing this argument, Defendants themselves misrepresent N.J.S.A. 52:17B-107(a)(1) by claiming that it confirms "that supersession is not limited to oversight over county prosecutors and can operate down to the level of an individual case." (Sc13). N.J.S.A. 52:17B-107(a)(1) states, in pertinent part, that the Attorney General may:

(a) supersede a county prosecutor in any investigation, criminal action or proceeding, (b) participate in any investigation, criminal action or proceeding, or (c) initiate any investigation, criminal action or proceeding.

Under hornbook principles of construction, the statute's discussion of supersession is limited to section (a) and is neither extended nor redefined by

sections (b) and (c). In stark contrast to Defendants claim, N.J.S.A. 52:17B-107 exclusively contemplates supersession by the Attorney General and of a county prosecutor. Sections (b) and (c) elucidate powers of the Attorney General, distinct from supersession, for participation in and initiation of criminal matters, and in no way expand the statutory power of supersession beyond county prosecutors as stated by section (a). Defendants repeat an even more erroneous version of this argument in stating that the panel misunderstands "subsections (1)(a)(2-3)" in failing to note that "county prosecutors were mentioned in just one of its three subsections, and not the other two." (Sc25 n.5)². This contention is fallacious on its face: first in that Section 107(1)(a)(3) does not exist, and second in that every subsection of the subject statute does in fact refer to county prosecutors.³

Neither the panel's rejection of Defendants' specious interpretations of the canon against surplusage and Chapter 94, nor their rejection of Defendants' concerning notions regarding separation-of-powers doctrine, as represented by their arguments regarding the IAPP, nor their reliance on a reasonable interpretation of the words that actually appear in Section 107 represent error or

² If Defendants are attempting reference to N.J.S.A. 52:17B-107(a)(1)(b-c), their point is inapposite as described *supra*.

³ <u>See</u> (emphasis added) NJSA 52:17B-107(a)(1) ("the Attorney General may (a) supersede a *county prosecutor*"); 52:17B-107 (a)(2) ("the Attorney General shall supersede the *county prosecutor*"); 52:17B-107 (b) ("The Attorney General may in his discretion act for any *county prosecutor*").

palpable wrong.

3. Defendants Fail to Demonstrate a Pattern of Historical Practice

Defendants finally argue that the panel erred in failing to give sufficient credit to what they refer to variously as "extraordinary historical practice" (Sc11) and "longstanding practice" (Sc15 and 17). The purported 26 instances of supersession compiled by Defendants hardly represent the "long settled and established practice" acknowledged to inform statutory interpretation. NLRB v. Noel Canning, 573 U.S. 513, 525 (2014).

First, this Court has consistently acknowledged the limitations of administrative interpretation in determining legislative intent. See Kingsley v. Hawthorne Fabrics Inc., 41 N.J. 521, 528, (1964) (an "administrative agency may not under the guise of interpretation extend a statute to include persons not intended, nor may it give the statute any greater effect than its language allows."); Mayflower Sec. Co., Inc. v. Bureau of Sec., 64 N.J. 85, 93 (1973) (a court is "in no way bound by the agency's interpretation of a statute or its determination of a strictly legal issue"); Service Armament Co. v. Hyland, 70 N.J. 550, 563 (1976) ("an administrative interpretation which attempts to add to a statute something which is not there can furnish no sustenance to the enactment"); Airwork Serv. Div. v. Director, Div. of Taxation, 97 N.J. 290, 296 (1984) (when the court can identify a particular legislative intent, that intent

cannot be "outweighed or overcome simply by a countervailing administrative practice").

Second, close review of the appendices cited to by Defendants as evidence of "26 agency-wide supersessions over the past 25 years" (Sc14), which Defendants argue are persuasive of legislative intent, demonstrates that such can more accurately be characterized as: (1) 2 instances of the Attorney General ordering a County Prosecutor to supersede a police department (Ra1-4 and 5-6); (2) 3 instances of the Attorney General appointing acting county prosecutors (Ra7-8, 9-12, and 20-23); (3) 4 instances of the Attorney General superseding County Prosecutor's Offices at the Governor's request (Ra13-16, 24-31, and 32-34); (4) 12 instances of a County Prosecutor's Office superseding a police department (Ra35-37, 38-39, 40-41, 42-43, 44, 45-46, 47-49, 50-51, 52-55, 56-59, and 60-62); and (5) 1 instance of the Governor nominating a new county prosecutor following the end of the previous prosecutor's term (Ra17-19). Far from evincing the record of unbroken practice that Defendants seek to advance in support of their theory of boundless supersession authority, these appendices are instead an admixture of: (1) the kind of limited supersession contemplated by statute; (2) non-statutory supersessions consented to by the relevant officials; and (3) expedient personnel changes. Accordingly, they are utterly and completely inapposite to the present matter. Those same appendices further refer to supersession repeatedly as a rare and novel exercise – a far cry from the standard practice Defendants seek to present it as. See e.g. (Ra15) ("Until now, prosecutors had been removed by the governor ... under a different state law"); (Ra27) ("The move marks the third time in state history a county prosecutor has been superseded by the state"); (Ra50) (Supersession "has never been invoked in Mercer, and has been used sparingly in other counties").

Finally, and as further discussed *infra*, Defendants contention that the panel's finding that prior supersessions were consented to "lacks any support in the record" is similarly wrong on its face. (Sc27). Beyond the implied consent evidenced by the dearth of legal challenges to supersession, Defendants' appendices are replete with direct evidence of consent by the subject counties/municipalities to supersession. See e.g. (Ra27) (County Executive and Freeholder President announced support for supersession of County Prosecutor's Office); (Ra36) (Mayor announced support for supersession of the police department by the County Prosecutor's Office); (Ra39) (Mayor announced support for supersession of the police department by the County Prosecutor's Office); (Ra40) (Mayor announced support for supersession of the police department by the County Prosecutor's Office); (Ra45) (Elected officials asked for supersession of the police department by the County Prosecutor's Office); (Ra48) (Mayor/Public Safety Director announced support for

supersession of police department by County Prosecutor's Office); (Ra50-51) (Mayor announced support for supersession of police department by County Prosecutor's Office); (Ra59) (Mayor announced support for supersession of police department by County Prosecutor's Office).

Defendants have failed to show a coherent established practice of supersession in general and specifically unconsented supersession of a municipal police department by the Attorney General without involvement of the County Prosecutor's Office. Defendants have similarly failed to show that consent to supersession was not the norm, especially regarding supersession of municipal police departments by County Prosecutor's Offices. Assuming arguendo that Defendants had been able to demonstrate their claims, the case law is clear that such would not be dispositive of legislative intent. Consequently, the panel's rejection of Defendants' unsubstantiated claims of historical practice was neither erroneous nor palpably wrong.

Although relevant case law is silent on what precisely constitutes a "palpably wrong" final judgment of the Appellate Division, it can reasonably be inferred that the term refers to a decision so obviously and apparently incorrect that it can be easily seen, known, and felt. As not one of the three purported errors alleged by Defendants have been demonstrated with anything approaching sufficiency, it is clear that the Appellate Division utilized sound

analysis of the relevant facts and reasoned application of settled principles of law to come to their conclusion that the Attorney General abused his "supervisory authority" in effectuating the *ultra vires* and nonconsensual supersession of the Paterson Police Department. The decision of the Appellate Division further incorporates and embodies the long-standing principles found within the Home Rule Act, which provides municipalities with the authority and regulatory power to promote the public welfare in their communities, and it is consistent with both the balance of the equities and the broader purposes of justice. See N.J.S.A. 40A:14-118. Consequently, the judgment below is not wrong and can in no way be described as palpably so.

Furthermore, the Defendant has failed to demonstrate any manner in which the final judgment of the Appellate Division was "unfair" or "unjust." Mahony, 95 N.J. at 52; Bandel, 122 N.J. at 237. These terms are typically used to describe decisions that shock the conscience to the point of being unconscionable. See e.g. Baxter v. Fairmont Food Co., 74 N.J. 588, 596 (1977) (defining "manifestly unjust" as that which is "shown to shock [the] conscience"). Here, there has been no such unconscionable final judgment by the Appellate Division sufficient to warrant certification by this Court. Defendants only arguments in this regard are that: (1) supersession "provides a crucial backstop" in achieving "administration of criminal justice throughout the

State"; and (2) without the threat of supersession, local officials would lack incentive "to comply with binding policies, internal affairs, and best practices." (Sc31). This is again somewhat concerning reasoning. Beyond the plain fact that there are myriad methods, absent supersession, by which the Attorney General can exercise his supervisory powers, Defendants' contention here evinces a truly bleak view of the elected and appointed officials that comprise municipal and county government. Defendants essentially ask this Court to adopt a position that would codify a belief that brute force is the only way to motivate a local official beyond their inherent self-interest and tendency towards corruption. The argument that it is definitionally unfair or unjust for a court to place even reasonable limits, guided by statute, on the Attorney General's supersession power or that the threat of supersession, unencumbered by such limits, is somehow necessary to coerce local officials into effecting the public policy of this State is itself unconscionable, and offends the notions of civic virtue and public service that are foundational to this State and any polite society. In contrast, far from shocking the conscience, the judgment below instead merely restored rightful authority to municipalities as has been prescribed by the Legislature. There have been no drastic changes or impacts, as to the balance of powers between state and local law enforcement or otherwise, that would justify certification in the interest of justice.

Defendants' arguments in this regard wholly lack merit and they have categorically failed to show palpable wrong, unfairness, or unjustness in the judgment below. Consequently, Defendants fail to demonstrate that the present matter calls for an exercise of this Court's supervision in the interest of justice, as contemplated by \underline{R} . 2:12-4, and the Court should deny certification under that theory. The two theories of certification raised by Defendants being foreclosed to them, and the remaining bases provided by \underline{R} . 2:12-4 being inapplicable to the present matter, no cause exists to justify review by this Court.

II. DEFENDANTS FAIL TO CLEARLY AND CONVINCINGLY MEET THEIR BURDEN JUSTIFYING THE ISSUANCE OF A STAY

Pursuant to the Court's Single-Justice Disposition on Application for Emergent Relief dated December 19, 2024, Plaintiffs respectfully request that the Court consider the arguments against the issuance of a stay set forth herein in supplement to Plaintiffs' earlier brief in opposition to Defendants' stay request submitted on December 19, 2024.

A. <u>Defendants' Comparison to the Camden Supersession is Inapposite.</u>

Defendants devote several pages of their brief attempting to justify their illegal takeover of the PPD with self-serving declarations and misleading comparisons to supersession of the Camden Police Department. (Sc31-33). These strained analogies do not cure the illegality of the PPD supersession or

address Defendants' continued and unabated deprivation of Plaintiffs' statutory and constitutional rights. As held by the Appellate Division, Defendants exceeded their limited statutory authority through the hostile and forcible takeover of the PPD, accomplished without the consent of the municipality. (Pca38). It is patently misleading to compare the PPD takeover to the 2013 Camden Police supersession because the City of Camden, Camden County officials and the State *mutually agreed to dissolve the Camden Police in favor of a county police department.* In other words, unlike the matter before the Court, supersession was welcomed by then Mayor Dana Redd and the Camden City Council. Redd v. Bowman, 223 N.J. 87, 94 (2015).

B. The Question of "Results" is Disputed; Nonetheless, It Cannot Cure the Illegality of Supersession.

Second, Defendants submit self-serving, subjective and ultimately irrelevant certifications from interested parties in an attempt to demonstrate what is characterized as "undeniable" results achieved through their illegal supersession. As more fully set forth in the Certifications from Paterson Mayor Andre Sayegh and Paterson Police Chief Engelbert Ribeiro, such results are

⁴ See https://www.nj.com/news/2011/08/camden county to form regional.html. This Court may take notice of facts or propositions of generalized knowledge that are universally known and cannot reasonably be the subject of dispute. N.J.R.E. 201(b). Furthermore, this Court previously recognized the consensual nature of the Camden supersession in Redd v. Bowman, 223 N.J. 87, 94 (2015) (noting appellant's challenge related to the "City of Camden's decision to disband its municipal police department" in favor of a county-wide police department, and that city officials entered into an agreement with the State of New Jersey and Camden County to do so).

plainly disputable and misleadingly attempt to incorporate positive public safety results seen while the PPD was still in City of Paterson control. See (Psa001a-008a). Regardless, the question of who can "police better" is not properly before this Court and is forcefully disputed. Regardless, Defendants' attempt to convince this Court they are better suited to do the job in Paterson misses the point entirely. (Sc31-33). The Court should not take the bait. This case is purely about *executive overreach* that is *ultra vires*, and wholly violative of both statutory and constitutional precedent authorizing municipalities to administer the day-to-day operations of police departments. The deprivation of the well-established rights held by Plaintiffs, as confirmed by the Appellate Division, is where the true interests of justice lie – and why denial of a stay of the Appellate Division's decision is so important.

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